Alush, Guy

Master's thesis / Diplomski rad

2023

Degree Grantor / Ustanova koja je dodijelila akademski / stručni stupanj: **University of Zagreb, School of Medicine / Sveučilište u Zagrebu, Medicinski fakultet**

Permanent link / Trajna poveznica: https://urn.nsk.hr/urn:nbn:hr:105:531951

Rights / Prava: In copyright/Zaštićeno autorskim pravom.

Download date / Datum preuzimanja: 2024-07-24



Repository / Repozitorij:

Dr Med - University of Zagreb School of Medicine Digital Repository





UNIVERSITY OF ZAGREB SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

Guy Alush

Goodpasture syndrome

Graduate thesis



Zagreb, 2023.

This graduate thesis was made at University Hospital Centre Zagreb, Department of nephrology, arterial hypertension, dialysis and transplantation- mentored by Assoc. Prof. Živka Dika, M.D, PhD. and was submitted for evaluation in the academic year 2022/23

Abbreviations

ANA- antinuclear antibodies

ANCA- antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies CI- confidence interval DIC- disseminated intravascular coagulation ELISA- enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay ESRD- end stage renal disease FFP- fresh frozen plasma GBM- glomerular basement membrane GS- Goodpasture syndrome IIF- indirect immunofluorescence LM- light microscopy PE- plasma exchange Pmp- per million population **RBC-** red blood cells RIA- radioimmunoassay RPGN- rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis RRT- renal replacement therapy WB- western blot

WBC- white blood cells

Table of Contents

Abbreviations	
Table of Contents	4
Abstract	5
Sažetak	6
Introduction	7
Epidemiology	
Pathogenesis	9
Clinical presentation	
Diagnosis	
Treatment	
Prognosis	
Conclusions	
Acknowledgements	
Biography	
References	

Abstract

This graduation thesis is a narrative review for Goodpasture syndrome (GS), a rare autoimmune disease affecting the kidneys and lungs. This eponymous syndrome, first described by Goodpasture in 1919, refers to the renopulmonary vascular damage done by circulating antibodies and their subsequent post-deposition inflammatory damage. The complex pathogenesis of the disease includes genetic predisposition, central tolerance defect, glomerular basement membrane (GBM) exposure revealing a culprit epitope, subsequent antibodies production against GBM and finally, culmination with antibody deposition in the kidneys and lungs. The autoantibodies thereafter, trigger a fulminant inflammatory reaction carried by cell-mediated and complement-dependent immune processes. The symptoms that follow range in severity from dyspnea to pulmonary hemorrhage and respiratory failure in the lungs, and from oliguria and hematuria to rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis (RPGN) in the kidneys. Therefore, physicians should have a high clinical suspicion of GS with any respiratory symptoms presentation in RPGN patients. Early diagnosis is imperative for treatment and is performed through serological tests and kidney biopsy. Treatment revolves around antibodies removal through plasma exchange and immunosuppressive therapy to halt further antibodies production. Pulmonary symptoms usually resolve, while recovery of renal function is poor and patients often require renal replacement therapy. Fortunately, GS seldom recur and patients who survive the initial ailment have a favorable prognosis.

Sažetak

Ovaj diplomski rad narativni je prikaz Goodpastureovog sindroma (GS), rijetke autoimune bolesti koja zahvaća bubrege i pluća. Ovaj istoimeni sindrom, koji je prvi opisao Goodpasture 1919 godine, odnosi se na renopulmonalno vaskularno oštećenje uzrokovano cirkulirajućim protutijelima s posljedičnim upalnim oštećenjem nakon odlaganja istih. Složena patogeneza bolesti uključuje genetsku predispoziciju, poremećaj centralne tolerancije, izlaganje bazalne membrane (GBM) otkrivajući pri tome ključni epitop, potom proizvodnju protutijela protiv GBM-a i konačno, kulminaciju s taloženjem protutijela u bubrezima i plućima. Protutijela zatim pokreću fulminantnu upalnu reakciju posredovanu staničnim imunološkim procesima i komplementom. Simptomi koji slijede variraju u težini od dispneje do plućnog krvarenja i respiratornog zatajenja u plućima, te od oligurije i hematurije do brzo progredirajućeg glomerulonefritisa (RPGN) u bubrezima. Stoga bi liječnik trebao posumnjati na GS kod pojave bilo kakvih respiratornih simptoma u bolesnika s RPGN-om. Rana dijagnoza je imperativ za liječenje, a provodi se serološkim testovima i biopsijom bubrega. Liječenje je usmjereno na uklanjanje protutijela putem izmjene plazme i imunosupresivnom terapijom kako bi se zaustavila daljnja proizvodnja protutijela. Plućni simptomi obično nestaju, dok je oporavak bubrežne funkcije slab i pacijentima je često potrebno bubrežno nadomjesno liječenje. Srećom, GS se rijetko ponavlja i pacijenti koji prežive početnu epizodu bolesti imaju povoljnu prognozu.

Introduction

Goodpasture syndrome (GS) is an uncommon, but life-threatening and organ-specific autoimmune disease that involves both the lungs and kidneys. GS is a rare subtype of autoimmune glomerular diseases with an estimated incidence of 1-2 per million in Europe and the USA (1). The pathogenesis of the disease is due to auto-antibodies against alpha 3 chain of collagen type IV, which is prevalent in capillaries' basement membrane in the kidneys and lungs. GS is a subset of anti-glomerular basement membrane (GBM) disease and occurs in 40-60% of these patients (2). The combination of pulmonary-renal involvement separates GS from isolated kidney or lung anti-GBM disease. GS typically presents as rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis (RPGN) and pulmonary hemorrhage. The disease is associated with high morbidity and mortality (3). Historically, the mortality rates have improved since the introduction of immunosuppression therapy from 96% to 47% (4). Despite its overall rarity, GS accounts for 10-20% of cases of RPGN (5). As a subtype of RPGN, GS histological findings include glomerular fibrinoid necrosis and crescent formation with characteristic linear deposits of immunoglobulin along the basement membranes on immunofluorescence (6). The rapid progression of GS requires a prompt diagnosis and high clinical suspicion in patients with RPGN. The current guidelines suggest a serological testing in all RPGN patients that present with alveolar hemorrhages confirmed by high-resolution CT scan (7). Immunoassays for anti-GBM are considered diagnostic but up to 10% of patients may present as false-negative (8). In these patients the diagnosis is made by renal biopsy demonstrating linear deposition of antibodies on the basement membrane. The mainstay of treatment is through rapid removal of the antibodies by plasma exchange and immunosuppression in order to halt further production of antibodies. Even though early and effective treatment managed to increase overall 5 years survival to over 90%, renal survival remains poor and patients often need renal replacement therapy (RRT), dialysis and/or kidney transplantation (9).

Epidemiology

GS is considered a rare disease with reports varying between countries, however, the incidence is estimated to be around 1-2 per year per million population (pmp) around the world. In Ireland, a comprehensive evaluation of GS was performed in 2016, and found the incidence to be 1.64 per year pmp (10). Similarly, a 2012 New Zealand study estimated the incidence to be 1.79 per year pmp (11). However, in China the estimated incidence is 0.6 per year pmp (12) and close to the Netherlands incidence of 0.7 per year pmp (13). A recent nationwide USA study demonstrated a 10.3 GS per 1 million admissions (14). The reports vary due to the rarity of the disease and therefore the infrequency in which single centers treat and report it. As discussed later, there is an apparent environmental connection to GS and single center studies might not truly represent the population at risk. Similarly, certain genetic components linked to GS pathogenesis and genetic diversity around the world could contribute to varying incidence rates. Moreover, there is variation in studies' methods and some do not define the population at risk at all, which makes incidence calculation impossible and introduces biases to the studies. Due to these inconsistencies, there is an issue relating GS to environmental exposure, as has been postulated and shown evidence by some of the studies, and more comprehensive country-based epidemiological research (such as the Irish study) is needed to ascertain a relationship.

Age distribution of GS seems to be bimodal with peak incidences in the third and seventh decades (15). Younger patients tend to be males but in the older patients there is neutrality in gender distribution. However, older patients are predisposed of having ANCA (antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies) as well, which was suggested to be significant for the pathogenesis of GS (16). The environment plays an important role in the pathogenesis of GS as will be discussed later, and temporal as well as spatial relationships are thought to contribute to GS incidence. Thus, winter months and influenza season are thought to predispose the population for GS (17–19). Recently, GS incidence increased in the COVID pandemic, although a causal relationship is still speculative (20–22).

The recent comprehensive Irish study managed to observe a temporal significance of young males with pulmonary involvement to certain times of the year (10). Likewise, they managed to associate GS to certain regions and counties in Ireland, further strengthening the apparent environmental correlation to GS. Moreover and in support of that notion, pulmonary hemorrhage was found to be significantly more prevalent in smokers compared to non-smokers (23).

As with other autoimmune diseases, GS is considered to be associated with HLA gene predisposition (24). This genetic susceptibility is considered as the first part of the "two hits hypothesis" with the other being a chemical or biological insult (25). The strongest relation of GS to a genetic factor is the association to HLA-DRB1*1501 (26) with odds ratios ranging from 4.5 (27) to 8.5 (28), depending on the study and the population in question. Yet, a recent meta-analysis study demonstrated positive relations to DRB1*03 and DRB1*04 and a protective association with DRB1*07 (26). Furthermore, the study also reported an enhanced susceptibility for DRB1*1501 coinherited with DRB1*07 suggesting an interaction between the two alleles with a possibly therapeutic target. The critical T-cell epitope was found to be a3₁₃₆₋₁₄₆ of the peptide chain and is the core immunogenic region for the autoimmune reaction (28). This was proven by comparing between MHC II knockout mice with either HLA-DRB1*1501 or HLA-DRB*01 and their reaction to the immunogenic peptide of a3₁₃₆₋₁₄₆, demonstrating a strong anti-GBM production in the former but not the latter (28).

Pathogenesis

GS is an autoimmune disorder and a subtype of anti-GBM (glomerular basement membrane) disease. GS is distinguished from renal anti-GBM disease (i.e. isolated anti-GBM nephritis) due to involvement of both renal and pulmonary small blood vessels. This syndrome occurs when auto-antibodies are produced against the noncollagenous domain of alpha 3 chain of collagen type IV (α 3(IV)NCI), a common macromolecule found in the basement membrane (1). The collagen IV family is composed of 6 genetically distinct combinations of alpha chains (α 1- α 6) with α 3 α 4 α 5 protomer being expressed in renal and

pulmonary basement membranes only. The a3, a4, a5 chains trimerize to form trimetric protomers which coalesce to form hexamers through disulfide bonds, which conceal the Ea and Eb (29) epitopes of a3 (also known as the Goodpasture antigen) in the process. Once the disulfide bonds, and subsequently the hexamer, are disrupted by either a chemical or inflammatory insult, the epitopes are revealed and inducing an immune reaction in genetically susceptible individuals. Antibodies against a5 epitope have also been serologically evident in GS patients and are considered a contributing factor for disease progression. The anti-GBM antibodies are subsequently deposited in the renal and pulmonary capillaries causing local inflammation through an activation of both the complement system and the cellular immunity via Fc receptors.

The disruptive event causing the hexamer dissociation is vital for the pathogenesis of the disease as it forms a neoepitope for which antibody production and binding occur (30). That critical insult was postulated to be responsible for the connection between smoking and GS as smoking inhibits the anabolic enzyme that forms disulfide bonds, rendering the epitope more susceptible for exposure. Similarly, ANCA are thought to damage the underlying glomerular basement membrane and to expose the epitope for anti-GBM generation in ANCA-positive patients. Yet, double positive patients are also postulated to occur due to T-cell mimicry of similar molecular epitopes and thus, not necessarily linked to GS pathogenesis (31).

The autoantibodies generation was found to be related to low thymus autoantigen presentation (32). The Goodpasture antigen (noncollagenous domain of the alpha 3 chain of type IV collagen in the basement membrane- a3(IV)NCI) is presented normally during development in thymic epithelial cells which are predominantly involved with negative selection. Therefore, high-avidity autoreactive T-cells should undergo apoptosis during development (33), which does not happen in GS patients due to inefficient antigen presentation. Moreover, the Goodpasture antigen is also presented during the disease itself but may fail to produce a regulatory response to halt the disease. Both etiologies are believed to be related for the strong HLA association GS patients possess.

Clinical presentation

GS usually presents as pulmonary hemorrhage and rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis (RPGN); a clinical syndrome used to describe a rapid loss of renal function (days to weeks) with nephritic syndrome urinalysis characteristics and crescentic cellular formation in the Bowman's capsule (34). RPGN is further subclassified by the immunopathological categories to anti-GBM, immune-complex and pauci-immune glomerulonephritis. Anti-GBM is considered the most aggressive type of RPGN with the highest frequency of renal insufficiency and crescent formation at the time of diagnosis (5).

GS patients would often present, like other RPGN patients, with acute renal failure; hematuria and flank pain with urinalysis often discovering nephritic characteristics. As such, hematuria, subnephrotic proteinuria and white blood cells (WBC) would present in the urinalysis with further microscopic evaluation unveiling red blood cells (RBC) casts with/without WBC casts. Thus, patients present with renal failure and volume overload symptoms and over half of patients need RRT at the time of diagnosis.

Additionally, GS patients present with pulmonary hemorrhage of varying degrees, ranging from life-threatening hemoptysis to milder forms of alveolar hemorrhage (35). Therefore, a careful physical examination is needed with RPGN patients that might reveal subtle lung crackles. Other respiratory symptoms include: dyspnea, tachypnea, cough, cyanosis, and even overt respiratory failure.

Other than renal and pulmonary symptoms presentation suggests a different diagnosis and further investigation. The differential diagnosis list for renopulmonary involvement is extensive and includes, but not limited to: ANCA-associated vasculitis, ANCA-negative vasculitis, drug induced vasculitis, autoimmune connective tissue disease, antiphospholipid syndrome, infectious diseases, primary lung disease leading to renal damage and vice versa (**Table 1**).

Table 1. Differential diagnosis for renopulmonary syndrome	
ANCA-associated vasculitis	Granulomatosis with polyangiitis
	Microscopic polyangiitis
	Eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis
ANCA-negative vasculitis	Henoch Schonlein purpura
	IgA vasculitis
	Mixed cryoglobulinemia
	Behcet's disease
Drug induced vasculitis	Hydralazine
	Propylthiouracil
	D-penicillamine
Autoimmune connective tissue disease	Systemic lupus erythematosus
	Polymyositis
	Systemic sclerosis
Antiphospholipid syndrome	With vasculitis or pulmonary embolism
Infectious disease	Infections that target both the lung and kidneys, for instance: legionella, tuberculosis, leptospirosis, hantavirus, cytomegalovirus, etc.
Primary lung disease leading to renal involvement	Lung malignancy with immune-complex nephritis or respiratory tract infection causing pre-renal failure, etc.
Primary kidney disease leading to pulmonary involvement	Nephrotic syndrome causing pulmonary embolism or acute renal failure leading to pulmonary edema, etc.

Diagnosis

The diagnosis of GS is based on clinical findings, positive serological testing and renal biopsy. The current guidelines emphasize early detection and treatment for GS and thus, recommend testing in each RPGN patient with concurrent pulmonary involvement (2). The initial set of testing is serological and should include anti-GBM, ANCA and ANA (antinuclear antibodies). There are several serological detection techniques including indirect immunofluorescence (IIF), radioimmunoassay (RIA), enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and western blot (WB). Generally, each assay varies but has a considerably high sensitivity (95-100%) and specificity (94-100%) (36). However, false-negative and false-positive still do occur, with the former being potentially catastrophic. For instance, confirmed cases of GS (by renal biopsy) were found to be negative with ELISA testing but positive with IIF (37). There are several postulated hypotheses regarding this known false-negative phenomena, including; a different autoantibody such as IgA targeting GBM (38), a relatively low affinity of standardized ELISA to antibodies (39), late serological testing after antibodies disappearance from the blood while clinical symptoms are still present, delayed kidney damage by complement system and T-cells leading to late serological testing as well, and sequestration of high affinity antibodies in kidneys leaving the low-affinity to be scrutinized in the blood. Regardless of the reason, false-negative can occur in up to 10% GS patients tested by standardized ELISA (8,40). Insofar, the current guidelines recommend early kidney biopsy in RPGN patients with pulmonary symptoms, even if the initial serological findings are negative (2). Thus, renal biopsy is the most reliable method for excluding GS in clinically susceptious patients.

When appropriated, renal biopsy shows in light microscopy (LM) a typical RPGN pattern of diffuse crescentic and necrotizing glomerulonephritis (41). Widespread crescent formation is due to GBM disruption and fibrinoid necrosis, typically of the same age, indicating the acute nature of the disease (1). The definitive feature of GS is, however, the linear deposition of IgG (predominantly subclass IgG-1) and complement (C3) along the GBM in immunofluorescence (IF) (**Figure 1,2**). IF findings are gold-standard for GS diagnosis and patients are considered positive and treated with that finding alone.

Readily accessible imaging modalities like chest x-ray and CT can provide useful information for GS diagnosis. Chest x-ray initially can present with nonspecific bilateral hazy opacities and with disease progression eventually demonstrate diffuse infiltrative opacification corresponding to the diffuse alveolar hemorrhage (**Figure 3**). CT can display parenchymal consolidation, ground glass appearance and in later stages of the disorder, reticular pattern and interlobular septal thickening (**Figure 4**).



Figures 1,2. Immunofluorescence staining demonstrating a linear deposition of IgG on GBM consistent with GS. (*Courtesy of Prof. Marijana Ćorić, Department of Pathology and Cytology, University Hospital Centre Zagreb; School of medicine University of Zagreb*)



Figure 3. Chest X-ray in GS patient demonstrating diffuse infiltrative opacification consistent with diffuse alveolar hemorrhage. (*Case courtesy of Sajoscha A. Sorrentino, Radiopaedia.org, rID: 14859*)



Figure 4. Coronal CT in GS patient showing widespread lung consolidation and ground glass pattern with the rest of the lungs, a finding indicating alveolar obliteration. *(Case courtesy of Bruno Di Muzio, Radiopaedia.org, rID: 61650)*

Treatment

Due to the severity and acute nature of GS, prompt diagnosis and aggressive treatment is required in this emergent state. The aim of the current treatment for GS is to remove circulating anti-GBM antibodies through plasma exchange (PE) while administering immunosuppressive therapy to both suppress further antibodies production and to limit reno-pulmonary damage (2). As the main pathological culprit for GS, anti-GBM should be removed by PE as soon as GS is confirmed and in cases with high clinical suspicion, even before GS confirmation through kidney biopsy. Rapid removal of antibodies is associated with improved kidney function survival and accelerated alveolar recovery. PE with immunosuppressive therapy hasten antibodies clearance from 14 months in untreated patients to within 8 weeks in treated patients in 1980's (42). However, nowadays with improved technique and technology, antibodies clearance occurs mostly within 14 days (2). Regardless of the timeline, PE should continue until anti-GBM antibodies are no longer detectable (43). Based on large cohort study results, intensive PE and immunosuppressive therapy showed better long term outcomes of both patients'

mortality and morbidity (44). PE is to be performed against 5% albumin with fresh frozen plasma (FFP) given to GS patients at the end of PE. As such, patients should be closely monitored afterwards for development of thrombocytopenia, coagulopathy and disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC). The pulmonary symptoms respond well to treatment and patients usually have good kidney function due to early clinical presentation and treatment (44).

As mentioned, daily immunosuppressive therapy is adjuvant to PE and mainly consist of cyclophosphamide and glucocorticoids. Cyclophosphamide is given 2-3 mg/kg orally for 2-3 months with close monitoring for leukopenia, in which case it should be reduced or stopped depending on leukopenia severity (45). In case of leukopenia occurrence or if anti-GBM antibodies are still present serologically after three months on cyclophosphamide, treatment can be continued with azathioprine or mycophenolate instead in combination with the standard daily glucocorticoids (2). Glucocorticoids are given for 6 months with pulsation initially of methylprednisolone up to 1000 mg/day in 3 consecutive days. Thereafter, prednisone is given 1 mg/kg orally daily with subsequent reduction to 20 mg/day by 6 weeks. Refractory anti-GBM is rare but can be treated with second line therapy of rituximab (46). Due to the rarity of GS recurrence, maintenance therapy is not required and patients can be tapered off completely by 6 months (8,44). However, patients that had relapses, had them years later and with close association to smoking (47–49). Therefore, patients should be advised of the importance of smoking cessation and be offered appropriate supportive therapy, if needed (50).

Depending on remaining renal function, patients may require immediate RRT at time of diagnosis and unsurprisingly are associated with poorer outcomes, which will be further elaborated later (44). RRT is an umbrella term which consists of various techniques of compensating for renal function loss (e.g. hemodialysis, peritoneal dialysis, etc.) and definitive replacement treatment in the form of transplantation (51). Nowadays, with current recommended therapy and after the initial insult to the kidneys, kidney damage progresses slowly yet kidney survival seems to depend on kidney function at time of presentation, as discussed later (44). However, most surviving patients eventually need kidney support in the form of dialysis or definitive transplantation. Candidates for transplantation should have seronegative evidence for anti-GBM for at least six months

before undergoing transplantation (2). Generally, renal transplantation outcomes are favorable and comparable to other ESRD diseases transplantations (52).

Respiratory support may also be required depending on pulmonary involvement and severity. Patients may be intubated and mechanically ventilated, yet, pulmonary hemorrhage abates with antibodies removal and immunosuppression.

Prognosis

Due to the rarity of GS, there is difficulty extrapolating clinical significance from small sample studies about mortality and morbidity rates as these are reported with wide confidence intervals and fluctuating statistical power. Nonetheless, 1-year patient survival rates ranging from 65-93% were reported with the modern aforementioned therapy (12,44,53,54). Unsurprisingly, patients' characteristics at the time of presentation were closely associated with their prognosis. For instance, a large retrospective review study (n=71) found creatinine concentration to be a prognostic feature for patient survival, as patients with creatinine at the time of presentation under 500 µmol/L had 100% 1-year survival rate which dropped to 83% 1-year survival rate in patient above 500 µmol/L (44). This finding was later supported by a smaller British study (n=43) that concluded oliguria at time of presentation to be the strongest predicting factor for patient and kidney survival (55). Severe loss of renal function at the time of presentation renders therapy somewhat ineffective as patients' survival is not significantly altered whilst patients are exposed to aggressive and taxing therapy. Therefore, it is currently controversial whether treatment should be given to patients presenting with serum creatinine $\geq 600 \mu mol/L$ or with $\geq 80\%$ crescent formation as the risks and therapeutic burden may outweigh the therapy benefits (44,56–58). Additionally, age was also found to be associated with a poorer prognosis in a very large New Zealand study (n=449), despite previous smaller studies reports (52). This finding was recently supported by another large French study (n=119) that collaborated age with poor patient and renal survival (9).

Renal survival reports with GS suffer from the same inconsistencies as mortality rate and 1-year renal survival rates vary from 15% to 40%. Notably, 1-year renal survival rate were reported to be 16% (CI 5-27%) by a British study (n=43) (55), 15% (CI 0-40%) by a small Chinese study (n=10) (12), 25% by a larger Chinese study (n=221) (53), and 40% by a large American study (n=71) (44). Somewhat paradoxically, patients presenting with pulmonary hemorrhage are more likely to recover renal function in the long term possibly due to early detection and treatment (9,44). However, they are at increased risk of short term mortality due to pulmonary complications.

As mentioned, often GS patients would undergo transplantation, with higher rates of retransplantation compared to other ESRD recipients (52). Graft survival is favorable with 63% 10-years graft survival and 21.2 years (95% CI 14.4-28.0 years) of first graft survival in a very large New Zealand study (n=449) (52). Similarly, GS recurrence in graft is rare (<3%) and graft failure due to GS recurrence is seldom seen (2,52). Graft failure mainly occurs due to chronic (54%) or acute (15%) rejection and is not related to GS itself (52). Overall patients' mortality in GS is twofold; due to the disease progression and due to treatment complications. In the short term, patients can suffer from acute renal failure, patients can suffer from complications related to the aggressive immunosuppressive therapy such as infections, bone marrow suppression and cancer, which are in fact the leading causes of mortality (9,55). Likewise, dialysis and cardiovascular disease are major contributors for patients' mortality (52).

Conclusions

GS is a challenging disorder which requires high clinical suspicion and vigilance from practicing physicians. Due to the rapid nature of GS, there is an overall consensus about the importance of early diagnosis and treatment. Therefore, physicians should be aware of that importance and apply a low threshold of testing for GS in RPGN presenting patients. Treatment for GS had progressed greatly and despite the severity of the

disease, cautious optimism may be appropriate with early detection. Due to GS rarity, there is an issue of conflicting studies with low quality data analysis cited repeatedly without merit. A more comprehensive meta-analysis and high quality studies may illuminate future clinical GS connections and provide valuable therapeutic information.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my family for all the support during these years, you were the force behind it all. For my girlfriend and the helping hand that was always there. For the friends I made along the way and the ones who were there all along. For Dr. Dika and all her helpful remarks about this paper. And for all the teachers in the pathway who cared and tried to impart knowledge. I am deeply grateful for you all.

Biography

Guy Alush was born in Dimona, Israel in 1993. He graduated from Appleman high school in 2010 and served three years in combat in the IDF. He later came to Zagreb University in 2017 to study medicine and is planned to graduate in July 2023.

References

1. Gulati K, McAdoo SP. Anti–Glomerular Basement Membrane Disease [Internet]. Vol. 44, Rheumatic Disease Clinics of North America. 2018. p. 651–73. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rdc.2018.06.011

2. Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Glomerular Diseases Work Group. KDIGO 2021 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Management of Glomerular Diseases. Kidney Int. 2021 Oct;100(4S):S1–276.

3. McAdoo SP, Pusey CD. Anti-Glomerular Basement Membrane Disease [Internet]. Vol. 12, Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 2017. p. 1162–72. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.2215/cjn.01380217

4. Benoit FL, Rulon DB, Theil GB, Doolan PD, Watten RH. Goodpasture's syndrome [Internet]. Vol. 37, The American Journal of Medicine. 1964. p. 424–44. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0002-9343(64)90199-8

5. Jennette JC, Charles Jennette J. Rapidly progressive crescentic glomerulonephritis [Internet]. Vol. 63, Kidney International. 2003. p. 1164–77. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00843.x

6. Lahmer T, Heemann U. Anti-glomerular basement membrane antibody disease: a rare autoimmune disorder affecting the kidney and the lung. Autoimmun Rev. 2012 Dec;12(2):169–73.

7. Authors N. KDIGO 2021 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Management of Glomerular Diseases [Internet]. Vol. 10, KIDNEYS. 2022. p. 201–28. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.22141/2307-1257.10.4.2021.247896

8. McAdoo SP, Tanna A, Hrušková Z, Holm L, Weiner M, Arulkumaran N, et al. Patients double-seropositive for ANCA and anti-GBM antibodies have varied renal survival, frequency of relapse, and outcomes compared to single-seropositive patients. Kidney Int. 2017 Sep;92(3):693–702.

9. Marques C, Carvelli J, Biard L, Faguer S, Provôt F, Matignon M, et al. Prognostic Factors in Anti-glomerular Basement Membrane Disease: A Multicenter Study of 119 Patients. Front Immunol. 2019 Jul 18;10:1665.

10. Canney M, O'Hara PV, McEvoy CM, Medani S, Connaughton DM, Abdalla AA, et al. Spatial and Temporal Clustering of Anti-Glomerular Basement Membrane Disease. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016 Aug 8;11(8):1392–9.

11. Taylor DM, Yehia M, Simpson IJ, Thein H, Chang Y, de Zoysa JR. Anti-glomerular basement membrane disease in Auckland. Intern Med J. 2012 Jun;42(6):672–6.

12. Li FK, Tse KC, Lam MF, Yip TPS, Lui SL, Chan GSW, et al. Incidence and outcome

of antiglomerular basement membrane disease in Chinese. Nephrology . 2004 Apr;9(2):100-4.

13. Rutgers A, Slot M, van Paassen P, van Breda Vriesman P, Heeringa P, Tervaert JWC. Coexistence of anti-glomerular basement membrane antibodies and myeloperoxidase-ANCAs in crescentic glomerulonephritis. Am J Kidney Dis. 2005 Aug;46(2):253–62.

14. Kaewput W, Thongprayoon C, Boonpheng B, Ungprasert P, Bathini T, Chewcharat A, et al. Inpatient Burden and Mortality of Goodpasture's Syndrome in the United States: Nationwide Inpatient Sample 2003-2014. J Clin Med Res [Internet]. 2020 Feb 6;9(2). Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/jcm9020455

15. Xie LJ, Cui Z, Jia XY, Chen Z, Liu XR, Zhao MH. Coexistence of Anti-Glomerular Basement Membrane Antibodies and Anti-Neutrophil Cytoplasmic Antibodies in a Child With Human Leukocyte Antigen Susceptibility and Detailed Antibody Description: A Case Report. Medicine . 2015 Jul;94(29):e1179.

16. Peces R, Rodríguez M, Pobes A, Seco M. Sequential development of pulmonary hemorrhage with MPO-ANCA complicating anti-glomerular basement membrane antibody-mediated glomerulonephritis. Am J Kidney Dis. 2000 May;35(5):954–7.

17. Wilson CB. Goodpasture's Syndrome Associated with Influenza A2 Virus Infection [Internet]. Vol. 76, Annals of Internal Medicine. 1972. p. 91. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-76-1-91

18. Perez GO, Bjornsson S, Ross AH, Amato J, Rothfield N. A Mini-Epidemic of Goodpasture's Syndrome [Internet]. Vol. 13, Nephron. 1974. p. 161–73. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1159/000180389

19. Williams PS, Davenport A, McDicken I, Ashby D, Goldsmith HJ, Bone JM. Increased incidence of anti-glomerular basement membrane antibody (anti-GBM) nephritis in the Mersey Region, September 1984-October 1985. Q J Med. 1988 Sep;68(257):727–33.

20. Prendecki M, Clarke C, Cairns T, Cook T, Roufosse C, Thomas D, et al. Antiglomerular basement membrane disease during the COVID-19 pandemic. Kidney Int. 2020 Sep;98(3):780–1.

21. Prema KSJ, Kurien A. Incidence of anti-glomerular basement membrane disease during the COVID-19 pandemic. Clin Kidney J. 2022 Jan;15(1):180–1.

22. Sebastian R, Arunachalam J, Rajendran M. Temporal Clustering of Antiglomerular Basement Membrane Disease in COVID-19 Pandemic: A Case Series. Int J Nephrol Renovasc Dis. 2021 Nov 1;14:393–8.

23. Donaghy M, Rees AJ. Cigarette smoking and lung haemorrhage in glomerulonephritis caused by autoantibodies to glomerular basement membrane. Lancet.

1983 Dec 17;2(8364):1390-3.

24. Fisher M, Pusey CD, Vaughan RW, Rees AJ. Susceptibility to anti-glomerular basement membrane disease is strongly associated with HLA-DRB1 genes. Kidney Int. 1997 Jan;51(1):222–9.

25. Satoskar AA, Nadasdy T. Bacterial Infections and the Kidney. Springer; 2017. 215 p.

26. Phelps RG, Rees AJ. The HLA complex in Goodpasture's disease: a model for analyzing susceptibility to autoimmunity. Kidney Int. 1999 Nov;56(5):1638–53.

27. Xie LJ, Cui Z, Chen FJ, Pei ZY, Hu SY, Gu QH, et al. The susceptible HLA class II alleles and their presenting epitope(s) in Goodpasture's disease. Immunology. 2017 Aug;151(4):395–404.

28. Ooi JD, Chang J, O'Sullivan KM, Pedchenko V, Hudson BG, Vandenbark AA, et al. The HLA-DRB1*15:01-restricted Goodpasture's T cell epitope induces GN. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2013 Feb;24(3):419–31.

29. Netzer KO, Leinonen A, Boutaud A, Borza DB, Todd P, Gunwar S, et al. The goodpasture autoantigen. Mapping the major conformational epitope(s) of alpha3(IV) collagen to residues 17-31 and 127-141 of the NC1 domain. J Biol Chem. 1999 Apr 16;274(16):11267–74.

30. Pedchenko V, Bondar O, Fogo AB, Vanacore R, Voziyan P, Kitching AR, et al. Molecular architecture of the Goodpasture autoantigen in anti-GBM nephritis. N Engl J Med. 2010 Jul 22;363(4):343–54.

31. Arends J, Wu J, Borillo J, Troung L, Zhou C, Vigneswaran N, et al. T cell epitope mimicry in antiglomerular basement membrane disease. J Immunol. 2006 Jan 15;176(2):1252–8.

32. Salama AD, Chaudhry AN, Ryan JJ, Eren E, Levy JB, Pusey CD, et al. In Goodpasture's Disease, CD4 T Cells Escape Thymic Deletion and Are Reactive with the Autoantigen α 3(IV)NC1 [Internet]. Vol. 12, Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 2001. p. 1908–15. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1681/asn.v1291908

33. Wong D, Phelps RG, Neil Turner A. The Goodpasture antigen is expressed in the human thymus [Internet]. Vol. 60, Kidney International. 2001. p. 1777–83. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1755.2001.00014.x

34. Naik RH, Shawar SH. Rapidly Progressive Glomerulonephritis. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.

35. DeVrieze BW, Hurley JA. Goodpasture Syndrome. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022.

36. Glassock RJ. Atypical anti-glomerular basement membrane disease: lessons learned. Clin Kidney J. 2016 Oct;9(5):653–6.

37. Jia XY, Qu Z, Cui Z, Yang R, Zhao J, Zhao MH. Circulating anti-glomerular basement membrane autoantibodies against α 3(IV)NC1 undetectable by commercially available enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays. Nephrology . 2012 Feb;17(2):160–6.

38. Ho J, Gibson IW, Zacharias J, Fervenza F, Colon S, Borza DB. Antigenic heterogeneity of IgA anti-GBM disease: new renal targets of IgA autoantibodies. Am J Kidney Dis. 2008 Oct;52(4):761–5.

39. Dougan T, Levy JB, Salama A, George AJT, Pusey CD. Characterization of autoantibodies from patients with Goodpasture's disease using a resonant mirror biosensor. Clin Exp Immunol. 2002 Jun;128(3):555–61.

40. Salama AD, Dougan T, Levy JB, Cook HT, Morgan SH, Naudeer S, et al. Goodpasture's disease in the absence of circulating anti-glomerular basement membrane antibodies as detected by standard techniques. Am J Kidney Dis. 2002 Jun;39(6):1162–7.

41. Nasr SH, Collins AB, Alexander MP, Schraith DF, Herrera Hernandez L, Fidler ME, et al. The clinicopathologic characteristics and outcome of atypical anti-glomerular basement membrane nephritis. Kidney Int. 2016 Apr;89(4):897–908.

42. Savage CO, Pusey CD, Bowman C, Rees AJ, Lockwood CM. Antiglomerular basement membrane antibody mediated disease in the British Isles 1980-4. Br Med J . 1986 Feb 1;292(6516):301–4.

43. Lockwood CM, Boulton-Jones JM, Lowenthal RM, Simpson IJ, Peters DK. Recovery from Goodpasture's syndrome after immunosuppressive treatment and plasmapheresis. Br Med J. 1975 May 3;2(5965):252–4.

44. Levy JB, Turner AN, Rees AJ, Pusey CD. Long-term outcome of anti-glomerular basement membrane antibody disease treated with plasma exchange and immunosuppression. Ann Intern Med. 2001 Jun 5;134(11):1033–42.

45. Kluth DC, Rees AJ. Anti-glomerular basement membrane disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. 1999 Nov;10(11):2446–53.

46. Huart A, Josse AG, Chauveau D, Korach JM, Heshmati F, Bauvin E, et al. Outcomes of patients with Goodpasture syndrome: A nationwide cohort-based study from the French Society of Hemapheresis. J Autoimmun. 2016 Sep;73:24–9.

47. Levy JB, Lachmann RH, Pusey CD. Recurrent Goodpasture's disease. Am J Kidney Dis. 1996 Apr;27(4):573–8.

48. Mehler PS, Brunvand MW, Hutt MP, Anderson RJ. Chronic recurrent Goodpasture's syndrome. Am J Med. 1987 Apr;82(4):833–5.

49. Borza DB, Chedid MF, Colon S, Lager DJ, Leung N, Fervenza FC. Recurrent Goodpasture's disease secondary to a monoclonal IgA1-kappa antibody autoreactive with the alpha1/alpha2 chains of type IV collagen. Am J Kidney Dis. 2005 Feb;45(2):397–406.

50. Gu B, Magil AB, Barbour SJ. Frequently relapsing anti-glomerular basement membrane antibody disease with changing clinical phenotype and antibody characteristics over time. Clin Kidney J. 2016 Oct;9(5):661–4.

51. Claure-Del Granado R, Clark WR. Continuous renal replacement therapy principles. Semin Dial. 2021 Nov;34(6):398–405.

52. Tang W, McDonald SP, Hawley CM, Badve SV, Boudville NC, Brown FG, et al. Anti-glomerular basement membrane antibody disease is an uncommon cause of end-stage renal disease. Kidney Int. 2013 Mar;83(3):503–10.

53. Cui Z, Zhao J, Jia XY, Zhu SN, Jin QZ, Cheng XY, et al. Anti-glomerular basement membrane disease: outcomes of different therapeutic regimens in a large single-center Chinese cohort study. Medicine . 2011 Sep;90(5):303–11.

54. Amparo FC, Kamimura MA, Molnar MZ, Cuppari L, Lindholm B, Amodeo C, et al. Diagnostic validation and prognostic significance of the Malnutrition-Inflammation Score in nondialyzed chronic kidney disease patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2015 May;30(5):821–8.

55. Alchi B, Griffiths M, Sivalingam M, Jayne D, Farrington K. Predictors of renal and patient outcomes in anti-GBM disease: clinicopathologic analysis of a two-centre cohort. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2015 May;30(5):814–21.

56. Daly C, Conlon PJ, Medwar W, Walshe JJ. Characteristics and outcome of antiglomerular basement membrane disease: a single-center experience. Ren Fail. 1996 Jan;18(1):105–12.

57. Merkel F, Pullig O, Marx M, Netzer KO, Weber M. Course and prognosis of antibasement membrane antibody (anti-BM-Ab)-mediated disease: report of 35 cases. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 1994;9(4):372–6.

58. Walker RG, Scheinkestel C, Becker GJ, Owen JE, Dowling JP, Kincaid-Smith P. Clinical and morphological aspects of the management of crescentic anti-glomerular basement membrane antibody (anti-GBM) nephritis/Goodpasture's syndrome. Q J Med. 1985 Jan;54(213):75–89.